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1.0 Questions and Responses 
 

1. Are the end users represented on the selection committee?  
Answer: Yes. 
 

2. Who else is on the selection committee? 
Answer: EBMUD staff representing the user community.  
 

3. Did a third party help prepare this RFP? Are they on the selection committee? Are they advising 
the selection committee? What type of entity are they? 
Answer: This RFP was prepared by EBMUD, no third party was involved in its creation.  
 

4. Did you have demos of solutions that meet your requirements before? What did you like and 
dislike about them? 
Answer: We did not have any demos of solutions before.  
 

5. What product demonstration has the District seen in the last 12 months? 
Answer: None.  

6. Why are you trying to get a new system?  
Answer: Please refer to Section IA - SCOPE, in the CMMS Project RFP document. 
 

7. What problem are you trying to solve with this RFP? 
Answer: Please refer to Section IA - SCOPE, in the CMMS Project RFP document. 
 

8. Is there an approved budget? Over what period? If so, what amount is it? What are the sources: 
federal funds, state funds, agency appropriated, etc.? 
Answer: The District has allocated a budget for this project. 
 

9. Can you share what the Districts allocated budget for this CMMS Project? 
Answer: The District has allocated a budget for this project. 
 

10. Is there an approved Budget for the Project?  Can you provide a price range? 
Answer: The District has allocated a budget for this project. 

11. What are the risks that you are concerned about going through this RFP? For example, is the 
delay in adoption by employees a risk you are concerned about? 
Answer: We anticipate risks that are common to project of this size and scope.   
 

12. Given the current affairs, Covid19 is causing delay in response time to RFPs’ and to save the 
trees, we request to make the demo to be remote and we request extending the deadline for 15 
days. 
Answer: EBMUD has extended the deadline for 2 weeks; the RFP responses are now due on 
December 18th by 4 pm Pacific time. The demos will be held remotely considering the pandemic.   
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13. Can you list the RFPs of this size you awarded in the last 6 years by the nature of the RFP, size, 
who was awarded and why you chose them? 
Answer: We are currently implementing the Oracle Financial and Procurement system.   
 

14. Are we required to work with EBMUD partners? 
Answer: All coordination with vendors not included in the RFP will be coordinated through 
EBMUD staff.  
 

15. Is there a vendor meeting that EBMUD will schedule?  
Answer: We do not anticipate having a vendor meeting.  
 

16. Has a date/time been set for a pre-proposal conference? 
Answer: We do not anticipate having a pre-proposal conference.  
 

17. Will there be a pre-bid conference? 
Answer: We do not anticipate having a pre-bid conference.  
 

18. RFP page 6 mentions that a pre-bid conference might be held, but no details follow. Will there 
be a pre-bid meeting for this RFP? 
Answer: We do not anticipate having a pre-bid conference. 
 

19. Do vendors have to register for the RFP and state they are bidding? 
Answer: Vendors do not have to register in order to submit a bid.  
 

20. Is this an open bid? 
Answer: Yes 
 

21. Are vendors allowed to use the vendor professional services? 
Answer: Yes 
 

22. Can the vendor include offshore resources in the proposal? 
Answer: The District prefers onshore, on-site consulting service delivery but proposers may 
include the resources required to maximize project success. 
 

23. Would EBMUD be able to provide documents (other than the two Excel documents) in an 
editable format for easier extraction of and response to the questions and requirements? 
Answer: Yes, we can post the editable versions of the RFP documents on our RFP page at the 
below location: 
https://www.ebmud.com/business-center/requests-proposal-rfps/computerized-maintenance-
management-system-cmms/ 

The editable versions are the exact same versions as the PDFs. These can be used to provide 
responses but the original content should not be altered. 
 

24. If EBMUD would like vendors to input their answers directly into Attachments B and C using the 
documents EBMUD provided, can EBMUD please provide these documents in Word format? 
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Answer: Please see answer to Q.23 above.  
 

25. Exhibit A, Page 1 has a note specifying that Attachment A1 is available as a Word document. 
However, only a .pdf is posted on the Website.  Is a Word version available for vendors to 
complete? 
Answer: Please see answer to Q.23 above. 
 

26. Can the District provide Attachment C - Preliminary Security Information Gathering (PSIG) 
document in Word format? 
Answer: Please see answer to Q.23 above. 
 

27. Can we get a list of vendors additionally proposing on this RFP? 
Answer: Until the proposal deadline passes we don’t know who submitted proposals.  The list of 
proposers will not be made available to other proposers.  
 

28. Can we get a copy of the IT Strategic Plan? 
Answer:  IT Strategic Plan is intended for EBMUD staff only.  
 

29. Questions around Warranty – 5 years: 
A) Does the Warranty apply to just the software or include the entire deployed system?  
B) In our experience the only way to warrant a deployed system is against the agreed upon 
specifications – and that as soon as those are changed the warranty is off.  That does not seem 
possible for 5 years, therefore can EBMUD provide your definition of how the deployed system 
is expected to be warranted?  
Answer: Our discussion around Warranty would be addressed as part of Contract negotiations.  
 

30. Will having a SBE or DVBE as a subconsultant meet the requirements for proposal preference? 
Answer: The SBE / DVBE preference applies to the Proposer as stated in Exhibit A, Page 4.  
 

31. Page 21 of the RFP (Exhibit A, Page 6), under Description of the Proposed Services # 4 states: 
“The description shall identify spare or replacement parts that will be required in performing 
maintenance services, the anticipated location(s) of the spare parts, and how quickly the parts 
shall be available for repairs.”  What is this in reference to?  Is this a part of desired services, if 
so, for what? 
Answer: No spare or replacement parts are required for this RFP. 
 

32. Exhibit A, page 6 has a requirement stating: “The description shall identify spare or replacement 
parts that will be required in performing maintenance services, the anticipated location(s) of the 
spare parts, and how quickly the parts shall be available for repairs.”  If a vendor is proposing a 
SaaS solution, is it acceptable to provide a not applicable response? 
Answer: No spare or replacement parts are required for this RFP. 
 

33. Can #6 on page 22 (Exhibit A Page 7) be clarified?  How can this be accomplished in our RFP 
response prior to implementation?  Particularly in light of having to build out integrations during 
the project proper? 
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Answer: EBMUD does not require evidence of qualification testing for this RFP. Proposed 
solutions must meet the other requirements stated in the RFP. All software, whether hosted on-
premise or in the cloud, must be capable of running on commodity hardware and infrastructure.  
 

34. Is a Bond required? 
Answer: No. 
 

35. For submission, please confirm that you would like answers to the questions in Exhibit A 
submitted only within the Exhibit A document EBMUD provided. 
Answer: Exhibit A has guidelines for the RFP response packet as well as forms to provide 
references and list exceptions, clarifications and amendments.   
 

36. Could you please clarify whether our understanding that the below attachments will ALL be 
required along with our main proposal/response document? 

a) Attachment A1 (list any deviations from stated requirements) 
b) Attachment A2 (list any deviations from stated requirements) 
c) Attachment A3 
d) Attachment B (list any deviations from stated requirements) 
e) Attachment C 
f) Attachment D 
g) Exceptions, Clarifications, Amendments 
h) Contract Equity Program 

Answer: Yes, all attachments are required.  
 

37. For A1 and A2, the instructions in Exhibit A say: “ PLEASE INDICATE WHETHER THE REQUIREMENT 
SPECIFIED IS INCLUDED IN THE OUT-OF-THE-BOX (BASE) PRODUCT, INCLUDED AS EXISTING 
FUNCTIONALITY. IF SO, PROVIDE THE MODULE NAME.” Later in Exhibit A, the instructions for 
these attachments say: “To be read in its entirety. Any deviation from the stated requirements is 
to be documented and submitted.” Please clarify what information you are seeking from vendors 
with regard to Attachments A1 and A2. Also, if these are meant to be edited by vendors, please 
provided an editable version. 
Answer: We will post editable versions of Attachment A1 and A2 on our website. A1 and A2 list 
our functional and integration requirements for the CMMS solution. Vendors are expected to 
specify if/how their proposed solution meets the stated requirements.  
 

38. When is the award decision date? 
Answer: Currently there is no award date decided. This will be determined after the contract 
negotiations with the selected vendor.  
 

39. Will EBMUD accept a proposal that reflects a teaming relationship? 
Answer: Yes 
 

40. What is the selection process and schedule to reach a contract, post RFP response due date? 
Answer: After RFP response evaluations, short-listed vendors will be invited to provide a demo 
of their solutions in Feb-March 2021.  

4 
 



 
41. Does the District have a schedule in mind to rollout all of the functionality and interfaces?  If not 

a specific schedule, can the District provide guidance with a timeline, such as within 3 years, 5 
years, or 10 years (as example)? 
Answer: Implementation timelines would be based upon the selected solution. 
 

42. Is it the District’s intention to award a 10-year contract for both the software and services, or 
either?  If not, what is the anticipated term of the contract? 
Answer: The length of the agreement will be part of the contract negotiation.  We request you 
provide cost information for up to 10 years as part of this proposal. Costs should be described as 
annual costs. 
 

43. Would the 10-year firm price include both software and services? 
Answer: Both software and services should be included.  
 

44. Where or how would the software license agreement be included in the responder’s proposal? 
Answer: Include license agreement with the pricing information.  
 

45. Under Description of Proposed Services:  “…shall identify spare or replacement parts that will be 
required in performing maintenance services, the anticipated location(s) of the spare parts, and 
how quickly the parts shall be available for repairs” How is this applicable to the CMMS 
project?  Please clarify how applicable. 
Answer: No spare or replacement parts are required for this RFP. 
 

46. What are the qualification test standard requirements listed in #6? 
Answer: EBMUD does not require evidence of qualification testing for this RFP. Proposed 
solutions must meet the other requirements stated in the RFP. All software, whether hosted on-
premise or in the cloud, must be capable of running on commodity hardware and infrastructure. 
 

47. Evidence of Qualification: 
a. Are the ITA requirements in the RFP? 
b. Is it the District’s expectation that the proposer identify an ITA to pay for and complete 

the qualification test standard requirements defined in the RFP, in advance of 
submitting a proposal, or at any time during the project?  Can the District provide an 
explanation around this process, and any certified ITAs that the District has worked with 
in the past? 

c. This section includes reference to testing hardware.  Are there hardware (i.e. field 
devices) expectations included in delivering the CMMS software?  Is the District 
expecting recommendations on purchase of field devices, or inclusion of field devices in 
the proposal costs? 

Answer: EBMUD does not require evidence of qualification testing for this RFP. Proposed 
solutions must meet the other requirements stated in the RFP. All software, whether hosted on-
premise or in the cloud, must be capable of running on commodity hardware and infrastructure. 
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48. A warranty is atypical for a CMMS software and services implementation.  Please confirm if the 
District is open to waiving.    
Answer: Our discussion around Warranty would be addressed as part of Contract negotiations. 
 

49. Would the District be open to extending the proposal due date?  Given the complexity and 
thoroughness of the RFP requirements, and the timing of response to the questions, this would 
more readily support a full and thorough response. 
Answer: EBMUD may consider extending the deadline for 2 weeks but we have not made the 
decision yet. We will post any extension to the deadline on our website. 
 

50. Will EBMUD have a vendor proposal conference? 
Answer: We do not anticipate having a vendor proposal conference.  
 

51. In regard to the Small Business designation for the Contract Equity Program, does EBMUD 
accept the designation of SB-PW from the California Department of General Services?  Is receipt 
of both of the SBE and SB-PW (Public Works) count for more points or better to meet the 
requirement, than either the SBE alone, or the SB-PW alone? 
Answer: EBMUD will review all aspects of the proposals and evaluate based on the overall 
proposed solution.  
 

52. Does EBMUD expect the entire set of functionality listed to be delivered in one phase or 
multiple?    And does that correlate to the 10 year Horizon? 
Answer: Provide information on functionality that is currently available, on the roadmap and 
not planned.  Implementation timelines would be based upon the selected solution. 
 

53. Are there deadlines and/or does EBMUD have a timeline for the expected system deployment. 
Answer: Implementation timelines would be based upon the selected solution.  Implementation 
is expected to begin immediately after contract approval by the Board of Directors. 
 

54. What is the planned start date for the Project? 
Answer: Immediately upon completion of Contract negotiations and Board approval.  
 

55. What is the expected time frame for the project? 
Answer: Implementation timelines would be based upon the selected solution. 
 

56. Does the District have an overall schedule and/or timeline in mind for this project? 
Answer: Implementation timelines would be based upon the selected solution. 
 

57. Does the District have a preference between a phased implementation or a ‘Big Bang’ Go-
Live?  If phased, does the District have any priorities in terms of departments? 
Answer: Proposals should include the proposers recommended strategy for implementation.  
Implementation timelines would be based upon the selected solution. 
 

58. Does the District anticipate a full implementation for all departments in a single phase, or 
multiple phases? If multiple phases, please indicate which departments or asset groups would 
be up to go live first, second, third, etc. 

6 
 



Answer: Proposals should include the proposers recommended strategy for implementation.  
Implementation timelines would be based upon the selected solution. 
 

59. What is the anticipated award date of the contract and start date of the project? Does the 
District have an anticipated completion date? 
Answer: Contract and Implementation timelines would be based upon the selected solution.  
Implementation is expected to begin immediately after Board of Director approval of the 
contract. 
 

60. Section 3.6 of Attachment B indicates requirements for an on-premise or a cloud based 
solution.  However, what is the District’s preference?  

a. If both options are available, would the District entertain bids that provide for both, or 
would two separate responses be required? 

Answer: The District is looking for a solution which satisfies the requirements listed in the RFP in 
the most efficient and cost effective manner. 
 

61. We are looking at proposing a Cloud solution - does EBMUD need to see an on premise offer? 
Answer: The District is looking for a solution which satisfies the requirements listed in the RFP in 
the most efficient and cost effective manner. 
 

62. Does EBMUD have a preference or an aversion to On-Premise or Cloud deployed solutions? 
Answer: The District is looking for a solution which satisfies the requirements listed in the RFP in 
the most efficient and cost effective manner.   
 

63. Does the District have a preference between on-premise, Cloud-based or a hybrid solution? 
Answer: The District is looking for a solution which satisfies the requirements listed in the RFP in 
the most efficient and cost effective manner. 
 

64. Please let us know whether the Work Mgmt licenses we provide will be required as On-Premise 
licenses or SaaS (Subscription) licenses?  
Answer: Please see Attachment B: Technical Requirements Section 3.6. 
 

65. How many FTEs and what type of resources (IT, Functional etc) does EBMUD expect to provide 
on the project? 
Answer: Page 9 of the RFP states that Implementation Plan and Schedule will be used as part of 
the evaluation period.  Section 3.1 of the functional requirements document states, “We will 
rely upon the expertise of the selected vendor and the District Information Systems Department 
to guide us toward the most efficient solution to satisfy what is implied by these requirements.” 
 

66. We want to verify that this is Firm Fixed Price for all Software and Services with milestone 
payments on services?  If not please explain.  
Answer: The District is looking for a solution which satisfies the requirements listed in the RFP in 
the most efficient and cost effective manner.  The RFP contains a pricing worksheet which 
responders can use to specify their pricing. 
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67. Is an Implementation Service cost estimate to be included in the Proposal? 
Answer: Yes 

68. Can you list any systems that the new Assets Management System needs to integrate with?  
Answer: Please refer to ATTACHMENT A2 - FUNCTIONAL REQUIREMENTS (INTERFACES).  
 

69. Is there a requirement of data migration? If so, how many data sources are there? Any legacy 
systems? Any manual processes? 
Answer: Requirement 17.1 states: “Import information from the District’s existing asset 
management/workflow system so that reporting on historic trends and work orders can be done 
in the new system.” We are looking for a solution that satisfies this requirement. 
 

70. Any requirement of a native mobile app? A native web app? 
Answer: Requirement 1.3 states: “System should allow the use of Windows, Mac, iOS, and 
Android devices to allow for access for employees both in the office and in the field.” We are 
looking for a solution that satisfies this requirement. 
 

71. What type of assets are to be managed using the system. 
1. Answer: Section 2.3 of the functional requirement states: “Assets can be, but aren’t limited to 

being: 
a. Horizontal/linear assets which are part of the District’s water distribution systems 

(water mains, service laterals, valves, hydrants, etc.) 
b. Vertical/fixed assets which above ground assets requiring mechanical and electrical 

maintenance. 
Land such as a parcel, road, trail, etc.” 
 
A list of some of the vertical assets which need to be managed are listed in Appendix O of the 
functional requirements. 
 
  

72. The system you want to replace is the IBM Maximo software system?  
Answer: The District is looking for a solution which satisfies the requirements listed in the RFP in 
the most efficient and cost effective manner. 
 

73. Is it the Districts intent to replace all existing CMMS’s with a single new system? 
Answer:  The District is looking for a solution which satisfies the requirements listed in the RFP 
in the most efficient and cost effective manner.  
 

74. Has the District ruled out the possibility of extending the use of Maximo to serve as the single 
CMMS/EAM across your enterprise? 
Answer:  The District is looking for a solution which satisfies the requirements listed in the RFP 
in the most efficient and cost effective manner. 
 

75. EMBUD has stated the Wastewater Dept is currently using Maximo. Please indicate the District's 
interested in keeping Maximo and expanding your use of it. 
Answer:  The District is looking for a solution which satisfies the requirements listed in the RFP 
in the most efficient and cost effective manner. 
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76. If keeping Maximo, what version is being used, how is it hosted and are there any industry 
solutions installed or other IBM add-ons, such as Spatial? 
Answer: Below is a screen shot of the System Information 

  
 

77. How many current Maximo users does the District have? 
Answer: Maximo is currently being used by our Waste Water business unit which has 
approximately 250 employees.  We don’t have a precise count of the current number of Maximo 
users. 
 

78. Provide the licensing breakdown of Full-Authorized, Limited Use, Express and Self Service? 
Answer: The District is looking for a solution which satisfies the requirements listed in the RFP in 
the most efficient and cost effective manner. See Question #82 for user count.   
 

79. Please clarify if it is the District's intention to move data from other systems which are being 
replace, to Maximo. 
Answer: Requirement 17.1 states: “Import information from the District’s existing asset 
management/workflow system so that reporting on historic trends and work orders can be done 
in the new system.” We are looking for a solution that satisfies this requirement.  
 

80. Is there an org chart for the Water/WW groups that you can share 
Answer: Please refer to the Organization chart at  
ebmud.com/about-us/board-directors/management/ 
 

81. Please list how many systems you will need – Prod, test etc 
Answer: Page 9 of the RFP states that Implementation Plan and Schedule will be used as part of 
the evaluation period.  Section 3.1 of the functional requirements document states, “We will 
rely upon the expertise of the selected vendor and the District Information Systems Department 
to guide us toward the most efficient solution to satisfy what is implied by these requirements.”  
The District would expect several environments that best support the proposer’s 
implementation strategy. 
 

82. User Counts – Please provide the following counts in each column and their need for access to 
the system. 

Answer: The following numbers are approximate and all put into the “Access” column.  In the 
requirements we list the types of systems which need to be supported. 

                    Role                    Desktop Access               Offline Mobile Access  
2nd line Mngrs and Executives  50  
1st Line Mngrs and Supervisors 200  
Maint Field team and Crafts  1000  
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Operators  100  
Inventory  50  
IT/Admin 250  
Planner/Schedulers 50  
Finance/Accounting  100  
Engineering   250  
Other (please specify title)   
Projected High end Concurrent 
User Count on the system at 
once  

This depends on the 
speed of the solution.  I.e. 
the faster a solution 
processes requests, the 
fewer requests it will 
process concurrently. 

 

 
 

83. What are the user counts by Department? 
Answer: The above table represents counts by role. 
 

84. How many users will be using Mobile solution? 
Answer: We would expect all 1st Line Managers and Supervisors and Maintenance Field team 
and Crafts to use a mobile solution.  From the table above, this would be approximately 1200 
users.   
 

85. What are the numbers of facilities? Types? 
Answer: The types of assets are listed in the last appendix of the requirements document.  Key 
facilities include more than 175 Reservoirs, more than 150 pumping plants, more than 25 
tanks/basins, more than 5 treatment facilities, and two dams one of which produces electricity 
for sale. 
 

86. What is the count of Assets? 
Answer: More than 50,000 vertical assets and a water distribution network of over 4000 miles 
of distribution mains. 
 

87. The WW department uses Maximo, what version? Any industry solutions? 
Answer: See question #76 above. 
 

88. How many work orders per year are anticipated? 
Answer: This will be dependent the rollout schedule.  The District generates upwards of 50,000 
work orders in a given year in its various workflow systems. 
 

89. Could you please confirm based on the following as to what your estimations are for licenses 
required by the District? 

a. Number of field users 
b. Number of back-end/office administrators or staff 
c. Number of any other individuals the District believes would require access to the CMMS 
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Answer: The licenses will depend on whether the pricing model is based on number of licenses.  
We would expect more than 1,000 District employees would use the new solution. 
 

90. Attachment A3 – General Requirements – 1.11 – Could you kindly clarify what you refer to 
when you state “work groups (shops)”? This is in light of some language found in requirement 
4.12, where you state that there should be possibility of multiple shops on a single work order. 
We just want to be clear on the concept of shops. 
Answer: A work group is a collection of employees working on a single task.  E.g. one work 
group might repair a main leak and a different workgroup might then later do paving work. 
 

91. Attachment A3 – Assets – 2.1.2 – Could you please further clarify or define the ESP 130.0 and 
WESP 130.0 standards you mention that the asset classes are based on? 
Answer: See Appendix A. 
 

92. Attachment A3 – Assets – 2.4.6 – Could you please confirm that the ‘Parent’ field as utilized by 
the District is intended for use for Asset Hierarchy? 
Answer: Yes the Parent field is intended for use for Asset Hierarchy. 
 

93. Attachment A3 – Planned Maintenance – 7.7 – Are there any specific conditions precedent that 
need to be checked, required, enforced, implemented, or otherwise for the automated WO 
generation? If so, please specify. 
Answer: The conditions under which a WO needs to be generated change from time to time so 
we would need a system that allows us to configure when automatic WO generation happens. 
 

94. In addition to the existing WAMS-type systems described in the RFP as leveraging Oracle and 
Cold Fusion, are there other underlying database & development environments envisioned for 
WAMS migration? 

a. Are any of these existing systems (or pieces of functionality) expected to remain in 
production vi integration after the new WAMS is deployed? 

Answer: All underlying database and development environments are laid out in ATTACHMENT B  
- TECHNICAL REQUIREMENTS section 8.5. 
 

95. Does the expected WAMS functionality include creating and dispatching Purchase Orders to 
vendors, and receiving in the same WAMS or integration into another procurement system? 
Answer: The expected solution would be for the CMMS to interface with the District’s 
Purchasing system to accomplish this. 
 

96. Does the expected WAMS functionality include managing inventory min/max, issue, receipt, 
cycle count, transfer and replenishment? 

a. Or, is this WAMS integration into an existing Warehouse and Procurement system 
expected? 

Answer:  The expected solution would be for the CMMS to interface with the District’s 
Purchasing system to accomplish this. 
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97. How many EBMUD staff (office & field – EBMUD & contractors) will potentially access the 
WAMS at one time (concurrent use)? 
Answer:  District staff work 24/7/365. The concurrent use will depend on the speed of the 
solution.  I.e. the faster a solution processes requests, the fewer requests it will process 
concurrently.   
 

98. Are there additional reporting metrics & KPI’s other than those described in the appendices 
being consumed and what are these and any others’ data sources and collection methods? 
Answer: The District will change KPI’s it monitor’s over time. Section 2 of the requirements 
document lists the business object needed as part of a solution.  The District would need the 
ability to generate KPI which could involve multiple business objects. 
 

99. Is there a current or preferred method for establishing the criticality/priority ranking of the 
assets maintenance work across all the departments to be served by the WAMS/EAM system? 
Answer:  Page 9 of the RFP states that Implementation Plan and Schedule will be used as part of 
the evaluation period.  Section 3.1 of the functional requirements document states, “We will 
rely upon the expertise of the selected vendor and the District Information Systems Department 
to guide us toward the most efficient solution to satisfy what is implied by these requirements.” 
 

100. Do unique asset registry, work history records and/or physical location data currently 
exist for all the assets/equipment to be managed and maintained by the WAMS/EAM system? 
Answer: They do for vertical assets.  For horizontal assets, they only exist for those horizontal 
assets for which we’ve generated work orders. 
 

101. Are there existing maintenance plan task descriptions for each unique asset/equipment 
record for all the assets/equipment to be managed and maintained by the WAMS/EAM system? 
Answer: Yes and we would want them moved to the new solution. 
 

102. Does EBMUD use a structured system to define predictive/preventative maintenance 
strategies today as defined in the RFP workflow diagrams? 
Answer: As it relates to strategies, page 9 of the RFP states that Implementation Plan and 
Schedule will be used as part of the evaluation period.  Section 3.1 of the functional 
requirements document states, “We will rely upon the expertise of the selected vendor and the 
District Information Systems Department to guide us toward the most efficient solution to 
satisfy what is implied by these requirements.”  
 

103. What is the Total Number of Desktop Users (Executives, Managers, Supervisors, 
Planners, Engineers etc…).  Will all Users need licenses? 
Answer: We expect over 1,000 District employees to be users of the system and approximately 
half of these will have a desktop/laptop computer.  All users of the new solution will need access 
to the new solution. 
 

104. What is the Total Number of Field Technicians (Field Service Mobile Users).  Will all 
Users need licenses? 
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Answer: We would expect all field staff (see table above) to use the new system.  All users of 
the new solution will need access to the new solution. 
 

105. What is the Total Number of Desktop Power Users? 
Answer:  We expect over 1,000 District employees to be users of the system and approximately 
half of these will have a desktop/laptop computer.  All users of the new solution will need access 
to the new solution. 
 

106. What is the Total Number of Desktop Basic Users (Query Only) 
Answer:  We expect over 1,000 District employees to be users of the system and approximately 
half of these will have a desktop/laptop computer.  All users of the new solution will need access 
to the new solution. 
 

107. What is the Mobile Solution currently being used? 
Answer: Field staff currently use Windows Laptops, iPhones, and iPads. 
 

108. Do all Depts utilize standard business Workflows (SOPs)? 
Answer: All departments have standard operating procedures. 
 

109. What is the total Number of Assets? 
Answer: See question #86. 
 

110. How many Inventory Items are there? 
Answer: See question #86 for the number of assets we have.  We need inventory items in stock 
to be able to implement repairs quickly. 
 

111. What current Analytics tools are being used? 
Answer: Data is queried from the database of the respective systems. 
 

112. How many Crews/Shifts are there? 
Answer: More than 50. 
 

113. Is your current CMMS highly customized? 
Answer: We don’t have one CMMS and are looking for one CMMS which satisfies our 
requirements. 
 

114. Are you operating on the vendors current CMMS software? 
Answer: Our Waste Water business unit is using Maximo.  Our Water business unit is mainly 
using solutions developed in house. 
 

115. Will Mobile be used in connected and disconnected mode? 
Answer: Requirement 1.5 states, “Provide for the entry/update of information when field users 
are off-line because network coverage is unavailable, and then to automatically add these 
entries/updates into the system once network coverage has been reestablished.” 
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116. Although section 4.5 of Attachment B indicates that the District’s user profile will likely 
change.  Can you provide a breakdown of the number of users and roles that will be anticipated 
at the onset of the project? 
 
For example: 

Department Admin Manager/Supervisor Technician 

OMD    

WW    

 
Admin – Super user with create/modify credentials 
Manager/Supervisor – Super user who requires access to a majority of the application to 
view/create/edit data and generate reports 
Technician – Regular or occasional user who is viewing information and entering/modifying data 
to complete actions/work 
 
Answer: See question #82 for a breakdown of roles 

117. How many of these individuals will require mobile access? 
Answer: We expect all field staff to require mobile access. 
 

118. Does the District want to replace Maximo implementation for the Wastewater with a 
new system as well? 
Answer: The District is looking for a solution which satisfies the requirements listed in the RFP in 
the most efficient and cost effective manner. 
 

119. What version of Maximo is currently being used? 
Answer: See question #76. 
 

120. Will the onsite training be done at one central location or will onsite training need to be 
done across multiple locations/facilities? If so, how many locations will need training services? 
Answer: The District has different staff located in different facilities in Alameda, Contra Costa, 
Amador, and Calaveras counties.  We are looking for training to be as time effective as possible. 
 

121. Does the District have an Asset Management Plan? If so, can you share it?  
Answer: It is for EBMUD staff only.  
 

122. Does the District currently have an Asset Management Team or Committee? If so, what 
is the make-up of the team by position and how often do they meet? 
Answer: The District does not have a specific Asset Management Team or Committee. 
 

123. Does the District have contractors that are assigned work orders or service requests? 
Answer: Yes. 
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124. Can you please provide us with an estimated number of users for the new system (both 
office and mobile users)?  Can a breakdown by each included department also be provided? 
Answer: See question #82 for a count of employee by role. We expect over 1,000 District 
employees to use the solution.  All field staff will need a mobile solution. 
 

125. Attachment A1, Section 2.3, Work Order Task Subsection, item 16.  Can the District 
please provide your internal definition of Job Procedure (JP) and Maintenance Plan (MP). 
Answer: Section 2.3 has a description of JP’s and MP’s.  Section 7 of the functional requirement 
lists requirements we have for JP’s and MP’s. 
 

126. Attachment A1, Section 2.3, Program/Project Subsection, item 25.  Are tasks considered 
activities? 
Answer: Activity is a descriptor of a task.  E.g. there are electrical tasks, mechanical tasks, etc. 
 

127. Attachment A1, Section 3.1.2 Assets: item 2.1.2.  Please provide additional information 
about ESP 130.0 and WESP 130.0. 
Answer: See Appendix A. 
 

128. Attachment 1, Section 3.1.3 GIS Requirements, item 3.3.1.7.  Can the District provide an 
example of the desired outcome of this requirement? 
Answer: The District is looking for a way to see where queried assets are located. 
 

129. How many system administrator users, supervisor users, customer service/dispatcher 
users, field users, and/or other (management, viewers, etc.) does the District need for the 
CMMS system, for water & wastewater separately? 
Answer: See question #82. 
 

130. Can the District further explain “Work in the streets?”  It sounds like a webpage to view 
and interact with (get info from) all or some of the work in the streets that is occurring in real-
time.  Is that a correct description?  If not, please explain. 
Answer: Yes. Work in Streets is a District developed GIS application which shows current and 
upcoming required street work.  
 

131. In regard to Improved Data Collection and Mobile Access, is the District expecting a 
proposal for a CMMS system with a new field data collection solution, to replace the District’s 
current field mobile application(s)?  Or, is it the District’s intention to have a CMMS system that 
can be used in the office or the field, integrating with its current field mobile application(s)? 
Answer: The District is looking for a solution which satisfies the requirements listed in the RFP in 
the most efficient and cost effective manner. 
 

132. Is the District expecting an implementation plan and pricing for a mobile field data 
collection software, as part of the CMMS? 
Answer: The District is looking for a solution which satisfies the requirements listed in the RFP in 
the most efficient and cost effective manner. We expect the pricing plan to allow the District to 
determine cost of the solution. 
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133. 2.1.2: Please explain details and purpose of the “equipment tag numbering system (ESP 

130.0 and WESP 130.0)” 
Answer: See Appendix A. 
 

134. 2.2: Please explain details and purpose of the “finalized project asset 
manifest/Equipment Log Spreadsheet” 
Answer: This is a manifest of assets which are being created as part of a project.  We would like 
the ability to load this information into the solution so that data entry doesn’t need to be done. 
 

135. 2.13: Please explain details and purpose of requirements concerning the “Interface with 
the District’s FIS system to provide a means by which the actual costs accrued can be displayed 
on the asset” 
Answer: Costs on repair orders include labor, parts, and equipment. FIS information will be 
needed to determine this. 
 

136. 3.3.1.4: How are documents stored in the district’s DOC system.  Are they accessible via 
URL? 
Answer: The DOCS system mostly stores PDF’s and TIFF’s. They are accessible on an the District 
intranet. 
 

137. 6.7: Is the District needing the collected documents to be stored in the DOC system, or a 
standalone document management system? 
Answer: The District would like the CMMS solution to interface with the DOC system. 
 

138. 10.2.7: Please explain requirements of the “interface with the District Employee 
Information system so that permissions can be set based on a named staff or a job position” 
Answer: The District would like the ability to set permissions on what a user can do in a CMMS 
system based on job classification.  The system would need to interface with the District 
employee system for that.  
 

139. 15.1:  Can the District explain details and purpose of the round sheet templates? 
What type and how many records does EBMUD expect to convert and import into the system? 
Answer: An employee might have a task to do a quick visual inspection of several assets during a 
shift.  We would want a way for the employee to specify when this was done and to record that 
everything was ok or to add notes of potential issues. 
 

140. 2.4 Asset Data Analysis (page 10) - What is the level of asset detail info that needs to be 
made available for mobile app? 
Answer: Requirement 1.3 states, “System should allow the use of Windows, Mac, iOS, and 
Android devices to allow for access for employees both in the office and in the field.” 

 

141. 2.4 Asset Data Analysis  #3 (page 10) -How do you classified the asset failure in the asset 
class? 
Answer: Asset failure happens when an asset can’t perform its function without being 
refurbished or replaced. 
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142. 2.4 Asset Data Analysis #4 (page 10)- How do you quantify the amount district spent on 

electrical work for a given asset class at a given location? Is that the time spent on labor and/or 
material?  
Answer: The amount spent on a work order in generate is the total labor costs, plus the material 
cost, plus the equipment usage cost.  The labor cost is typically hours worked times the cost of 
the employee to the District. 
 

143. 3.1.1. General Requirements: #1.3 (page 10)- What is the standard/typical mobile device 
that the district currently has? Is it Android or iOS based devices?  
Answer: The majority of field staff currently use iOS devices over Android devices. 
 

144. 3.1.1. General Requirements: #1.6.3 (page 11) - Could you please elaborate on the 
"Nearby assets" requested functionality and its use case for mobile app?  
Answer: This would provide the ability for a user in the field to see which District assets are 
close to their current location. 
 

145. 3.1.4 WorkOrders #4.23.3 (page 16)- Would the purchasing process includes acquiring 
product/inventory outside of the district warehouse?  
Answer: See question #95. 
 

146. 3.1.4 Work Orders #4.29.2 (Page 17)-How does the workgroup or shop is being 
grouped? Would it be possible to have a resource being assigned to multiple workgroup?  
Answer: See question #90 for a further explanation of workgroup.  An employee can be 
assigned to different workgroups at different times. 
 

147. 3.1.4 Work Orders #4.34 (Page 17)-What is the functionality requirement of Safe Work 
Permit integration in Work Order?  
Answer: See Appendix B. 
 

148. 3.1.4 Work Orders #4.34 (Page 17)-What is the interface type available for the Safe 
Work Permit system?  
Answer: See Appendix B. 
 

149. 3.1.6 Photographs #6.7 (Page 17)-What is the external document management system 
to be used to store the attachment?  
Answer: DOCS system mentioned in Appendix A of the technical requirements. 
 

150. 3.1.6 Photographs #6.7 (Page 17)-Does the new CMMS system still need to retain the 
attachment after it's being stored in the external system?  
Answer: External here refers to external to the CMMS solution.  It would currently be the DOCS 
system mentioned in Appendix A of the technical requirements. 
 

151. 3.1.6 Photographs #6.7 (Page 17)-Will there be any offline capability need for the 
attachment after the photo is being attached?  
Answer: Photographs attached in off-line mode should be uploaded to the CMMS solution. 
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152. 3.1.7 Planned Maintenance #7.3 (Page 18)-What's the underlying technology and the 

interface types of the SCADA system?  
Answer: This District prefers not to give out this information. 
 

153. 3.1.18 General Asset Management Functionality #18.1 (page 22)-How does the 
computation of risk is being calculated currently? Does it factor any external system outout?  
Answer: We are asking vendors to describe how their solution handles this irrespective of how 
the District handles this.  If the solution needs information from an external system to handle 
this, the information needed should be listed. 
 

154. 3.1.18 General Asset Management Functionality #18.2/18.3 (page 22)-Is there any 
calculation/logic to determine the replacement/rehabilitation of the key asset? Is there any 
metric that would come from external system?  
Answer: We are asking vendors to describe how their solution handles this irrespective of how 
the District handles this.  If the solution needs information from an external system to handle 
this, the information needed should be listed. 
 

155. 4.3.4 Leak Repair – Fluid Conservation Systems (FCS) Leak Detection #7.3 (page 29) - 
4.4.4 Leak Repair – Non-Emergency #17.3 (Page 31)-How does the STS calculate the count and 
list of the customer affected?  
Answer: Based on the valves closed during a main repair, we can determine services affected. 
 

156. 4.9.4 Main Extension – Site Ready for Extension #1 (page 39)-What's the underlying 
technology and the interface types of the Infrastructure Project Tracker?  
Answer: The Infrastructure Project Tracker is an application which was built in house. 
 

157. Interfaces 5.1.1 (page 9)-What middleware tool(s) does the district use/intend to use?  
Answer: John Refer to Attachment B – Technical Requirements Appendix A (Interface Types 
Column). 
 

158. Data Handling and Retention 8.4.3 (page 13)-How long is the district data retention 
policy?  
Answer: he District would never want to lose any asset or work order information. 
 

159. Is there any MDM architecture currently being used /in planning in the district? How 
does the new CMMS fit in the MDM architecture?  
Answer:  There is no current MDM architecture currently being used or in planning at the 
District. 
 

160. What would be the MVP (Minimum Viable Product) criteria for the new CMMS?  
Answer: Proposed solutions should specify which requirements can be met and which can’t. 
 

161. Can you share EBMUD approximate budget for this project?  
Answer: The District has allocated a budget for this project. 
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162. To what extent is EBMUD seeking a single integrated "platform-based" solution that can 

be configured to address your current Functional and Technical requirements while offering 
rapid development capabilities to enable you to quickly and continually adapt your solution to 
changing conditions over time to maximize your ROI for this solution? To what extent would this 
also be weighted in your solution evaluation criteria? 
Answer: The District is looking for a solution that address both functional and technical 
requirements.  RFP responses will be evaluated and scored according to the evaluation criteria 
provided in the RFP section B in the table labeled Evaluation Criteria.  
 

163. The District mentions wanting to utilize an Agile implementation methodology.  
a. Is the District looking for a true, fully Agile implementation or is the District expecting a 

Waterfall/Agile hybrid approach? 
b. Has the District used a fully Agile methodology on previous enterprise software 

implementations? 
c. Does the District have certified Agile staff? 

Answer: The District has implemented an Agile methodology with previous enterprise software 
implementations.  We have limited certified Agile staff.   
 

164. What is the District’s Electronic Timesheet System?  Is this a self-written 
solution?  Would the district be open to a replacement?  What platform/database is this current 
on?  Does it have API’s, etc? 
Answer: The Electronic Timesheet System is a customized time tracking solution integrated with 
various systems at the District.  Replacement is not considered for this effort. 
 

165. What is the District’s Financial Information & Procurement System? Is this a self-written 
solution?  Would the district be open to a replacement?  What platform/database is this current 
on?  Does it have API’s, etc? 
Answer: The District’s Financial Information & Procurement System is Oracle Financials. 
 

166. What is the District’s New Business Application system? Is this a self-written 
solution?  Would the district be open to a replacement?  What platform/database is this current 
on?  Does it have API’s, etc? 
Answer: The New Business Application System is used solely by the New Business Office to track 
large new water service applicant projects including large standard services, private fire services, 
hydrants, water main extensions and main relocation.  The Interface is Web Service API. 
 

167. What is the District’s Infrastructure Project Tracker System? Is this a self-written 
solution?  Would the district be open to a replacement?  What platform/database is this current 
on?  Does it have API’s, etc? 
Answer: The District’s Infrastructure Project Tracker System is used to track Infrastruture 
projects (pipeline as well as facilities) from inception to completion. The Interface is Web Service 
API. 
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168. What is the District’s Billing System System? Is this a self-written solution?  Would the 
district be open to a replacement?  What platform/database is this current on?  Does it have 
API’s, etc? 

Answer: Refer to Attachment B – Technical Requirements Appendix A. The billing system is a 
Java based application and not in scope to be replaced with this project. 

 
169. Please provide details regarding your current GIS such as vendor, version, system 

architecture, licensing, etc. 
Answer: Refer to Attachment B – Technical Requirements Appendix A. 
 

170. Please provide an overview of your asset repository database. 
Answer:  Refer to Attachment B – Technical Requirements Appendix A. 
 

171. Please provide details regarding Customer Watch 
Answer:  Customer Watch is the District's Customer Information System (CIS), brought live in 
September 2011. It is a single piece of software that manages Billing, Statements, Meter 
Reading, Meter Inventory, General Ledger, Customer Service, Customer Information 
Management, and Service Orders, among other functionality. 
 

172. What are the District’s data management goals? 
Answer:  Not within scope of this RFP. 
 

173. Page 8, Technical Criteria B – lists Business Continuity/Disaster Recovery – is this in 
reference to a hosted or SaaS system? 
Answer: No. 
 

174. What are the District’s exit strategy requirements? 
Answer:  See attachment B – Technical Requirements Section 9 Exit Strategy. 
 
 

175. Can the District share its exit strategy requirements? 
Answer:  See attachment B – Technical Requirements Section 9 Exit Strategy. 
 

176. Can you provide some information related to the new systems (Financials, 
Procurements, Human Resources, Customer Watch), such as the technology used? 
Answer:  The District’s Financial Information & Procurement System is Oracle Financials.  
Customer Watch is a customized Java application. 
 

177. Does the District have a mobile device preference? 
Answer: See attachment A 3.1.1 General Requirements. 
 

178. Evidence of Qualification Testing:  
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a. Please provide an example of an ITA?  We assume this is an outside consultant?  Who is 
expected to secure and pay for this?  

b. When is this process to take place – after deployment, before, before RFP submittal?   
c. Does this impact the Warranty and if so how? 

Answer: EBMUD does not require evidence of qualification testing for this RFP. Proposed 
premise or in the cloud, must be capable of running on commodity hardware and infrastructure. 
 

179. What is the FIS (financial) system vendor, application name and version? 
Answer: The District’s Financial Information & Procurement System is Oracle Financials. The 
version of Oracle Cloud Financials changes quarterly.  
 

180. What is the new Warehouse and Procurement system vendor, application name and 
version? 
Answer: Refer to Attachment B – Technical Requirements Appendix A. 
 

181. What is the system equipment usage tracking application vendor, name and version? 
Answer:  Refer to Attachment B – Technical Requirements Appendix A. 
 

182. Does EBMUD envision integration with the Fluid Conservation System (FCS)? 
Answer: Yes. 
 

183. Are all systems listed in Attachment A2 capable of single or bi-directional REST API 
integration? 
Answer: Yes. 
 

184. What version of Maximo is currently in production @ EBMUD? 
Answer:  The current version of Maximo at the District is 9.0. 
 

185. What are the existing financial and human resources systems currently in production? 
a. Do these systems include the Electronic time sheets (ETS)? 

Answer:  Financials is Oracle Financials.  Human Resources systems is PeopleSoft (HCM) Release 
8.8 SP1 with PeopleTools 8.43.14.  
 

186. What is the current GIS vendor, product and version in production @ EBMUD? 
a. Are there multiple GIS database instances representing the functional areas or is there a 

common corporate instance for all GIS data & applications? 
b. What existing GIS applications (desktop, server & mobile, etc.) are currently in 

production? 
c. Should the WAMS have embedded GIS capability or interface with existing GIS 

applications? 
Answer:  ESRI, ArcGIS Enterprise 10.7.1. Answer a) We have one GIS Geodatabase where we 
store GIS data. Answer b) We have a lot of ArcGIS Portal applications accessible through a 
browser. We also have some mobile applications using Collector and Survey123. Some of our 
users have some tools developed to edit some data in Production. Answer c) Yes. 
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187. Does EBMUD have a standard mobile device and/or ruggedized mobile technology 
requirement? 
Answer: No. 
 

188. In regard to the smaller systems (like the paving tracking system), what type of DB are 
those running in?  Do they have any GIS relationships?   
Answer: Oracle.  Our Pavement Ordering System (POS) has an old Map Guide GIS interface.  
 

189. Which of the systems are tightly integrated with the District’s ETS?   
Answer:  There are no tightly integrated systems with ETS.  ETS is a standalone application with 
limited interfaces with various systems throughout the District. 
 

190. In regard to the District’s financial, inventory, document management, and procurement 
systems, please respond for each:  who are the vendors?  do they have API?  if not, what are the 
backend table structures?  do they have any GIS relationships?   
Answer: The District’s Financial Information & Procurement System is Oracle Financials. There is 
no GIS relationship / integration with Oracle Financials.   
 

191. In regard to the second to last bullet under Scope, Section A:  Aligning with the District’s 
IT Strategic plan and integrating effectively with the District’s “new major replacement systems 
for Financials, Procurement, and Human Resources; and the District’s existing systems such as 
Customer Watch (the District’s Customer Information System)…”  Is this suggesting that the 
District is in the process of replacing each of these “major replacement systems”?  If so, which 
ones and by when?  Will the CMMS need to integrate with the existing systems in place today, 
or the future replacement system? 
Answer: The District is currently implementing Financial, Procurement and Laboratory 
Information systems.  Planning for a Human Resource System replacement has also begun. 
There is no current plan to replace the Customer Watch system.  Integration with these systems 
is expected. 

 

2.0 Appendix A ESP/WESP  
ESP/WESP stand for Engineering Standard Practice and Wastewater Engineering Standard Practice.  The 
following document explains our equipment tag numbering system: 
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The following is a tag numbering flowchart: 
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3.0 Appendex B Safe Work Permit 
The attached describes Safe Work Permits: 
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